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         Further praise for Penance:

         ‘A work of show-stopping formal mastery and penetrating intelligence.’ Guardian

         ‘Intricate … the skin-prickling result is a pitch-dark mosaic of murky families and deadly frenemies, chronicling the slow decline of an ill-omened holiday resort with supernatural chills and metafictional twists.’ Observer

         ‘A clever conceit from Eliza Clark … A fiction about fictionalising non-fiction, the novel is in part a satire on, and a polemic against, those who exploit the deaths of young women for financial gain and further investigates what the popularity of the true-crime genre might say about the culture that spawns it.’ Irish Times

         ‘A clever, intricate and metatextual novel … original [and] provocative.’ i

         ‘An untrue true-crime book, a satire on true-crime writers and true-crime consumers embedded in an intelligently constructed, rapid lounger-by-the-pool piece of crime fiction.’ Andrew Hankinson, The Spectator

         ‘[N]ever reads like a conventional novel … Penance is written with such intelligence and dark humour … What Clark does best, though, is capture what it’s like being a teenager today.’ Telegraph

         ‘Two-parts thriller to one-part state-of-the-nation critique … Shot through with a satisfying jolt of Northern Gothic.’ Catherine Taylor, TLS

         ‘A meticulous piece of metafiction.’ Marie Claire

         ‘With the precision of Yellowjackets, Clark marks the vicious intensity pulsing beneath adolescent female friendships and presses it to its most savage conclusions – except these girls have social media accounts and British accents. This novel is certainly not for the faint of heart, but the violence at its core is cut slightly by the fascinating questions about the ethics of true crime at its periphery (not to mention Clark’s hilariously pitch-perfect impersonation of teenaged girls and Tumblr subcultures).’ Oprah Daily

         ‘Clark’s prose is brisk and clever, and the horror of the events described implicitly but deliberately raises a difficult question: to what extent are we as readers merely fresh initiates in a club of corpse-ogling fanatics?’ Literary Review

         ‘Think Ruth Rendell’s psychological intensity meets Murderpedia.org. Clark’s skilled foreshadowing, characterisation and atmospheric conjuring make her one to watch.’ Booklist

         ‘Part multimedia mosaic, part wickedly and tenderly constructed suspension bridge between different modalities of alliance and violence, the prose has a diffusive quality that seeps into your sleep and makes it necessary to keep reading as soon as you get up the next morning.’ Helen Oyeyemi

         ‘A mystery that pulled me back into the muddy rage of girlhood.’ Rowan Hisayo Buchanan

         ‘As bleak as it is compelling, Penance is a perfect dark satire of the voyeuristic true-crime industry and the media’s complicity in sensationalising the pointless destruction of human lives into a vulgar, grubby money-making circus.’ Charlotte Vassell

         ‘Fans of Joseph Knox’s True Crime Story and Megan Abbott’s teen noirs will love Clark’s metameditation on the mysteries, malice and minutiae of adolescence.’ Tom Benn
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            For George,

forever and everywhere.

         

      

   


   
      
         
            But mostly they were lies I told; it wasn’t my fault, I couldn’t remember, because it was as though I’d been to one of those supernatural castles visited by characters in legends: once away, you do not remember, all that is left is the ghostly echo of haunting wonder.

            TRUMAN CAPOTE
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         This book is an examination of the 2016 murder of teenager Joan Wilson by three girls attending the same high school. It was written by journalist Alec Z. Carelli and first published in March of 2022.

         Shortly after publication, several of Carelli’s interviewees publicly accused Carelli of misrepresenting and even fabricating some of the content of their interviews.

         Following these accusations, it was discovered that therapeutic writing produced by two of the three offenders while incarcerated was illegally acquired by Carelli.

         The book was pulled from shelves by the original publisher in September of 2022.

         Now republished after the conclusion of relevant litigation, some names have been changed at the request of those involved.

         We believe writers (even writers of non-fiction) have a right to express themselves and tell stories in the manner they feel best fits the story in question.

         It is our fundamental belief that readers have the freedom and the right to read and judge a text for themselves – that contentious works with artistic merit should not be erased from history simply for causing offence. Despite the controversy attached to this book, we have chosen to republish it in its original form.

      

   


   
      
         
​Extract: I Peed On Your Grave, Episode 341, 01/07/2018

         
​Hosts: Steven Doyle, Andrew Koontz, Lloyd Alan

00:00:31–00:02:46

         
            DOYLE: Hey and welcome to I Peed on Your Grave, a true-crime podcast. I’m Stevie Doyle and with me as always is …

            KOONTZ: Me, big Andy Koontz.

            ALAN: And me, Lloyd Alan.

            DOYLE: And today we’ll be taking a trip to merry old England.

            KOONTZ: Oh! [in a cockney accent] A little trip to England is it?

            ALAN: God not the accents.

            KOONTZ: [in a cockney accent] What accent, mister, I’m just a lezzy English schoolgirl, aren’t I?

            DOYLE: [laughing] Andy, no.

            KOONTZ: [in a cockney accent] I’m a lesbian schoolgirl and I’m not wearing any knickers, aren’t I?

            DOYLE: [laughing] Andy, dude.

            KOONTZ: [in a cockney accent] Don’t like my accent, mister? The last girly who made me angry got set on fire, mister, didn’t she?

            ALAN: Oh, man, is that a spoiler?

            DOYLE: No, luckily that’s my starting point.

            KOONTZ: [in a cockney accent] Glad you didn’t have to punish me for spoiling the episode, mister …

            ALAN: Okay, dude, these chicks were like fourteen.

            DOYLE: They were more like sixteen, actually.

            KOONTZ: Well in England that’s kosher, right? I can be as weird and horny as I want.

            DOYLE: [laughing] I mean, I guess.

            KOONTZ: [in a cockney accent] Me knickers are staying off, mister … [ceasing accent] I’ll stop. Most of these chicks are not hot.

            DOYLE: No, they’re pretty fucking gross.

            KOONTZ: That Doris chick, though.

            ALAN: Doris?

            DOYLE: Doris? Doris? What year do you think England is in, dude?

            KOONTZ: [in a cockney accent] It’s 1843, mister! [laughing, no longer using accent] Well whatever, Dolly, Doris, she’s kind of smoking hot.

            ALAN: She’s older though, yeah?

            KOONTZ: What would you say if I was like, ‘No, dude, she’s the youngest.’

            ALAN: Is she?

            DOYLE: No, she’s the hot one.

            [all laugh]

            KOONTZ: The hottest chicks are always insane. I’m not saying all hot chicks are crazy because we respect hot chicks on this podcast, but I am saying that the hottest chicks are crazy.

            DOYLE: The craziness usually makes them extra-hot. We respect crazy chicks too.

            KOONTZ: Yeah, really takes them to the next level. It’s not sexist – I love crazy hot chicks. I would let Hot Doris set me on fire.

            [all laugh]

            ALAN: Oh my God.

            DOYLE: Can I please start the episode?

            KOONTZ: Go ahead, go ahead, sorry. I’ll just be jacking off over here while you read your intro.

            [all laugh]

            DOYLE: Okay, so this is a pretty new case – kind of obscure for us but it’s so fucking interesting, dudes. Today we’re looking at the murder of Joan Wilson, a sixteen-year-old girl in England who was set on fire by her friends in 2016.

            ALAN: What the fuck.

            DOYLE: Yep! Other schoolgirls. All like sixteen, seventeen.

            ALAN: No way. How the fuck didn’t we hear about this?

            DOYLE: Totally buried by Brexit, man. They literally killed her the night of their fucking Brexit election thing. In fact, I think we’re pretty much the first people to cover this. I could not find anything about this case.

            KOONTZ: Is this an exclusive scoop?

            DOYLE: I mean, more or less? There was local coverage, but I basically just heard about this because a wonderful listener – who wanted to remain anonymous – sent us this crazy detailed uh … DethJournal post about the case – which included archives of the murderers’ blogs, which a bunch of the fucking creepy true-crime Tumblr girls saved. They may or may not be the OP, I don’t know, but thank you, anonymous listener!

            ALAN: I hate that I know what DethJournal is.

            KOONTZ: No fucking way, dude – so this is kinda hot off the press, huh?

            DOYLE: Totally. I think we’ve got a flaming-hot potato on our hands here. Maybe that was a poor choice of words.

            [all laugh]

         

      

   


   
      
         Do you know what happened to her already? Did you catch it in the papers? Are you local? Did you know her? Did you see it on the internet? Did some website that trawls local news for the worst details of ‘true crimes’ bring her to your attention? Did you see the article about her, buried in the chumbox of an already disreputable website? Did you see the red-headed, stock-image model juxtaposed against an edited, charred corpse captioned: ‘You Won’t Believe What They Did to Her’? Did you listen to a podcast? Did the hosts make jokes? Do you have a dark sense of humour? Did that make it okay? Or were they sensitive about it? Did they coo in the right places? Did they give you a content warning? Did you skip ahead?

         Did you see pictures?

         Did you look for them?

         
            *

         

         At around 4:30 a.m., on 23 June 2016, sixteen-year-old Joan Wilson was doused in petrol and set on fire after enduring several hours of torture in a small beach chalet. Her assailants were three other teenaged girls – all four girls attended the same high school.

         The crime took place in Joan’s hometown of Crow-on-Sea in North Yorkshire. The seaside town sits between Scarborough and Whitby, protruding from the east coast of England like a small finger reaching for the continent. It has a beach to the north and a beach to the south.

         The North Beach is loud. Brightly coloured amusement arcades, donkey rides, gift shops and a small funfair mean it is favoured by tourists and families. The South Beach is classier. You’ll find nice restaurants and little artisan shops overlooked by the ruins of Crow-on-Sea Castle.

         Both beaches are rimmed by rainbows of pretty, pastel-coloured beach chalets. The North Beach chalets are council owned and accessibly priced. Most families in Crow could afford to rent a chalet on the North Beach – at least as a treat. The South Beach chalets are modern, privately owned and pricey. Joan died on the South Beach.

         During 2015 and 2016 both the northern and southern chalets had been the targets of a spate of arsons and, as a result, the few witnesses who saw the smoke did not inform the authorities. It was a tiny fire, and Crow’s emergency services had dubbed the chalet burnings ‘a waste of [their] time’ in a 2015 local news report.

         A beach chalet on fire was nothing to bat an eye at. Neither was a car occupied by three teenaged girls speeding around the empty streets at half past four in the morning. The kids in Crow were bored – minor acts of teen delinquency were a fact of life.

         The assailants were dubbed Girls A, B and C until their identities were leaked by the local newspaper. Girl C (the oldest) drove, Girl A sat in the front and Girl B in the back. Their accounts of the mood in the car vary. Their accounts of everything vary. They do not agree whose idea it was to hurt Joan, who ‘started it’ on the night, or who among them set the fire. Girl A blames Girl C and vice versa. Girl B had been waiting in the car. She had not laid a hand on Joan and spent the night walking back and forth from the beach to the car in a state of shock and confusion. She claimed she tried to encourage the other girls to stop their assault. The other girls do not agree on this – Girls A and C say the fire was Girl B’s idea.

         Some things are clear, at least. The timeline is more or less undisputed. After the girls set the fire, they ran from the South Beach up a concrete staircase to Girl C’s vehicle, a Fiat 500 stolen from her older sister. Girl C had been taking driving lessons on and off for a year. She had failed a driving test in January and then again in March. She was due to retake it again in a few weeks. She regularly borrowed her sister’s car but had taken it without permission that evening.

         The trio drove to the nearest twenty-four-hour McDonald’s – a motorway service station a thirty-minute drive west. In the car, Girl A said she hoped Joan would burn up with the chalet, so the police would not see the other injuries. She hoped they might blame Joan for the chalet burnings. It would be a death by misadventure. Joan Wilson would be remembered as a teen arsonist, tragically killed by her own bizarre hobby.

         But Joan Wilson did not die.

         The small fire the girls set went out very quickly. Damage to the chalet itself was minimal. The petrol they’d poured over Joan was the dregs of a can kept in the car for emergencies. It burned away Joan’s clothes, it caught the floor around her. It burned her face beyond recognition, and her body beyond the point she was likely to survive her injuries. But it burned out.

         The girls underestimated how difficult it would be to burn a body. Like most things in life, corpse disposal is not as easy as it appears in the movies. I say corpse disposal because they thought Joan was dead. They thought they had already killed her. The fire was not to make Joan’s death as painful as possible: it was a panicked bid to cover up a ‘prank gone wrong’.

         What was the ‘prank’?

         Hours earlier, Joan had been bundled into the car. Girls A, B and C disposed of her phone and bound her hands. They threw a brick at her when she tried to escape. They locked her in a beach chalet Girl A’s father owned. Girl C took a photo of Joan and posted it to Tumblr.

         Despite her harrowing night and the numerous head injuries she sustained, Joan was still alive when they set the fire and, at some point, regained consciousness.

         It is likely that both Joan and the chalet were still on fire when she crawled onto the beach. She was covered in sand, and doctors speculated she may have rolled around to extinguish the flames.

         Bolstered by adrenalin, Joan was able to get to her feet. The human body is capable of miraculous feats in moments like this. She scrambled up a concrete staircase to the street, leaving bloody footprints behind her. She was naked. She staggered down the road looking for help. Barefoot and bare-bodied, she walked. She was caked in sand. She was caught on CCTV weakly banging on the doors of B&Bs and seaside holiday homes with her raw hands before finding an open hotel door. She woke the receptionist.

         Then nineteen, asleep at her desk, Lucy Barrow thought she must be having a nightmare. She rang 999, hoping she was dreaming. When asked by the call-taker if Joan’s burns were ‘larger than the palm of your hand’, Lucy replied: ‘She’s completely burned, she’s raw, she’s completely raw; I can actually smell her and I’m standing well away from her.’

         Lucy told Joan there would be an ambulance there in five minutes, and Joan asked for water. She could speak, but she was hard to understand. Her voice was rough and dry. Her lips had burned away. She asked for water, over and over again.

         She could not hold the glass herself, so Lucy fed her a pint of water. She did this against the advice of emergency medical dispatcher Eve Wells, who had told Lucy not to touch Joan – not to go near her. With such severe burns, the risk of infection was high and deadly.

         Eve had had a quiet night. She worked at the ambulance service’s North Yorkshire control room, just outside of York. A veteran call-taker, Eve says this was one of the most unnerving calls she had ever taken. Eve has talked frantic parents through performing CPR on their babies, she has spoken to spouses immediately following the murder of their partners, she has heard people die on the phone. Spared no exposure to intimate violence, freak accidents and grisly deaths, Eve still counts Lucy’s call among the eeriest she has heard. ‘I can actually smell her’ sent a chill up her spine.

         Burns were not something she dealt with often – when she did, they were the products of accidents which were industrial, culinary and recreational. Never deliberate. Eve (placed on speaker) had asked Joan if she’d had an accident. And Joan said no. Her voice was thin. Lucy relayed her answers. Did she do this to herself? No. Did someone else do it to her? Yeah. 

         The police arrived before the ambulance. Eve had Lucy pass the phone to an officer. She didn’t want them to barge into the small reception area – to bring in germs or touch the patient or try to cover her body with a blanket. If the burns were even a fraction as extensive as Lucy had said, Joan would be extremely vulnerable to infection.

         Eve asked that the police keep their distance from Joan – she told them not to enter the room, to follow the ambulance and to save any questions till Joan had arrived at the hospital. They followed some of the instructions they were given. Officers on the scene kept their distance and refrained from touching Joan, but they did enter the hotel and they did ask her questions. Did someone do this to you? Are they nearby? Joan nodded to these questions, no longer trying to speak. The ambulance took ten minutes to arrive.

         Joan seemed to become more lucid once she was in the ambulance. Paramedic Dave Fisher asked for her name and age (which she gave: Joan Wilson, sixteen) then asked if she’d been in a fire. Did she get in an accident? Sometimes teenagers made bonfires on the beaches – maybe she fell in one, drunk or on drugs. Maybe her friends panicked and scattered and left her. He’d treated a burn victim around her age a few months prior; the girl had been playing a game with friends, drunk on the beach. They were jumping over a small campfire, and this girl’s tracksuit bottoms had caught. Dave hoped it was something like that.

         Dave asked: was this an accident? It wasn’t.

         She named her attackers. She repeated their names thrice to Dave, who had no paper, and wrote the names on the inside of his arm with a ballpoint pen.

         The first girl she named became A, the second B and the third C.

         Joan then asked for her mother and lost consciousness. She would never wake back up.

         Girls A, B and C arrived too early at McDonald’s for the breakfast they’d hoped for. They ordered three large portions of fries, a Diet Coke, a Fanta and a vanilla milkshake. They ordered a plain Hamburger, a twenty-piece Chicken McNugget box, a McChicken Sandwich and a Big Mac.

         Girl A put the McChicken Sandwich into the Big Mac, and told the other girls she’d made a ‘McGangBang’. Girl B, of the plain Hamburger, talked at length in her police interview about how disgusting it was to watch, to smell, to listen to.

         Girl C dipped her fries and Chicken McNuggets into the milkshake.

         Girl A said that the half-eaten McGangBang (in its mess of mayo-smothered lettuce, the added ketchup, the chewed-up meat) looked like Joan’s body. This was made much of at trial. They had all laughed, hysterically. They were wild, and unrestrained, full of caffeine and sugar and adrenalin. They howled, banging their hands on the table, spraying cola from their noses. Girl B said they were delirious, hysterical, unable to fully comprehend the enormity and permanence of what they had done. Girl A still seemed amused by the joke at trial. Girl C claimed she could not remember any of this.

         Joan’s mother, Amanda Wilson, arrived at the hospital in a dressing gown and slippers. Freddy Wilson worked on an oil rig; it would take him a further sixteen hours to arrive back home. Amanda was, initially, unable to positively identify her daughter. Her raw, red face was almost featureless. Joan’s hair had been cut prior to the fire and what was left had burned away. It was estimated that burns covered 80% of her body. Amanda had to look at Joan’s teeth. Joan had a chip in her left incisor, which was usually covered with a temporary plastic cap. The cap had been knocked from Joan’s tooth, and Amanda was able to confirm a match. Then Amanda noticed the girl’s little fingernail. It was painted blue – the shade matched the blue nail varnish that she had last seen Joan wearing: Blueberry Muffin by Barry M. She positively identified Joan, and vomited in the hallway of the hospital, unable to make it to the bathroom.

         Girl B had also vomited, in the bathroom of the service station. Girls A, B and C left the McDonald’s around the same time that Joan arrived at the hospital. They left a mess. The staff later described them as loud, disrespectful and in high spirits. Ann Brown, the member of staff who served them, said she thought the girls had been drinking at the beach and possibly taking drugs. They were dishevelled and covered in sand.

         Girl C dropped off Girl A then Girl B. Girl A lived slightly outside of Crow, the closest to the service station. Girl B lived around the corner from Girl C.

         Girl A fell asleep on the sofa as soon as she arrived home. She was asleep for around twenty minutes before the police arrived. She answered the door while her father slept. At first she was belligerent and calm, but according to officers she ‘turned her tears on like a tap’ when her father appeared. Her father had only just gotten home himself, still inebriated from celebrating the result of the EU referendum. He threatened to sue them for police brutality when they handcuffed his daughter and led her to the car.

         When Girl B made it home, she did not fall asleep. Girl B began to sob and paced the ground floor of the small house she shared with her mother and her mother’s partner. She broke a vase. Her mother found her dialling the landline, then hanging it up. Dialling the landline, hanging it up. Girl B and her mother had an extended argument, which eventually led to a half-confession. As officers were knocking on the door of an entirely innocent ‘Girl D’, Girl B’s mother was driving her to the police station.

         The erroneously labelled ‘Girl D’ was an associate of the killers (and the victim) but had absolutely nothing to do with the murder. Girl D was not named by Joan Wilson, but she had the misfortune of being both Girl C’s (very recent) ex-girlfriend and from a family known locally to be ‘dodgy’ (‘dodgy’ being the word used by police in court when asked to explain their arrest). Girl D herself was not known to the police but her brother was, and so were members of her extended family.

         Girl D’s mother was very confused when she answered the door to three male police officers. She struggled to contain the small band of rescue greyhounds who had begun barking and panicking at the sight of the police. None of the greyhounds were tolerant of strangers. Mum asked to see ‘a warrant’ like they were on television. The police pushed past her, and she lost her grip on the collar of her most unpredictable and excitable greyhound. The dogs were especially nervous around men – and were therefore apoplectic at the sight of strange men, shouting and pushing their owner. Most of the dogs were meek by nature, merely barking and howling in bewilderment and distress, but the particularly unpredictable dog bit an officer. The dog was tasered, and later died.

         Girl D’s mother thought they were here for her son, who she said was asleep and – if they could just give her a minute to shut the dogs up – she would go and get him. But they were after her daughter. She was stunned. She told them her daughter had been in all night – there was CCTV near their house, they could check. But the police ignored this and barged their way upstairs.

         Girl D was dragged out of bed. Confused and sobbing, she would be interrogated for almost twenty-four hours before police confirmed that she’d been at home in bed all night and released her. Her photograph was nonetheless taken and later released by the local paper, the Post-on-Sea.

         After dropping off Girl B, Girl C drove around the estate in circles then headed back to the motorway.

         The sister had woken up very early that day for work and was furious to find her car gone. She’d walked to her mother’s house ‘absolutely fuming’ and after her sister’s blood. By this point, Girls A and B had already told the police that C was the ringleader. The police were hung up on ‘Girl D’ – which confused A and B and slowed the progress of the interrogation.

         Girl C’s mother was making coffee, while the older sister attempted to call C’s mobile phone. Her stepfather was calling the police station when officers arrived at their home.

         It took several hours for the authorities to locate Girl C. She had pulled over in a lay-by on the motorway and fallen asleep at the wheel.

         Confessions were quick, but the story was messy. There was no doubt they were guilty – but the who, what, why and how of the attack was complicated. Girls A, B and C gave childish reasons, excuses and bizarre mystical justifications (while a bewildered and distraught Girl D begged to be taken home). They variously painted one another as psychopaths, torturers, violent morons, evil geniuses, weak-minded followers, miniature cult leaders and petty bullies. They gave the officers wild, elaborate backstories which began in primary school.

         ‘It was like having a nightmare about being back in school,’ one detective said in court. ‘We couldn’t follow it.’

         Joan died three days after her ordeal. The story of her murder gained little traction in the mainstream media due to its proximity to the UK’s EU referendum vote. Brexit dominated the news for weeks, and nothing about Joan Wilson’s murder was narratively useful for Britain’s majority right-leaning press. All the girls involved were white and British. They were mostly from very average socio-economic backgrounds – though Girl A came from a wealthy family, well known locally. Girl A’s father was a right-wing ‘politician’, a rent-a-gob. It is possible that the papers that had given the father column inches made an intentional effort not to highlight the fact his daughter was a vicious, murdering bully.

         Crow voted Leave – and that had nothing to do with the murder. There was nothing to be gained from reporting on this story. There were no grooming gangs or immigrants to blame, no vicious foreign teens. Just four white British girls, in an overwhelmingly white British seaside town in decline.

         All three girls (as well as ‘Girl D’) quickly had their identities revealed by the Post-on-Sea. There were, apparently, misunderstandings around some of the girls’ ages; it was thought Girl C and Girl D were eighteen, not seventeen. It was assumed that Girl A’s marginally famous father made her a public figure. There was no justification for leaking Girl B’s name.

         I toyed with using pseudonyms for them, but Girls A and B have now left the detention system and have each received brand-new identities. C has an adult sentence to serve; when (if) she eventually re-enters society, she will certainly require a new identity as well. Their original names are out there – so I’ve stuck with them. I spoke to Girl D, and she’s happy to be named. She wants it to be clear she had nothing to do with this.

         Girl D, our innocent collateral damage, is Jayde Spencer. A generation prior, her family were deeply involved in local organised crime. Now, they simply run a bookmakers and carry an unjustified reputation.

         Angelica Stirling-Stewart is Girl A. By virtue of her family, her name is baked into the foundations of Crow-on-Sea. It would be hard to paint a full picture of her without using her name. Her father is a local businessman, author, and had recently made an obnoxious foray into right-wing politics. She was a spoiled brat and had been something of a bully in primary school. In high school, the tables turned for her – she was thought to be rather odd and had become the butt of a joke she was not party to. She was part of Joan’s friendship group at school though by all reports, the two never got along.

         Violet Hubbard is our Girl B. Quiet, and a good student, her mother is a social worker, her father a civil servant living in London. Violet had been Joan’s friend throughout primary school. Though they had recently drifted apart they maintained a text correspondence. Most of Violet’s life was online. She had no ‘IRL’ friends before meeting Girl C, was painfully shy, and struggled with anxiety and depression.

         Our ringleader, Girl C, is Dorothy ‘Dolly’ Hart – a girl who moved in with her mother and stepfather around a year and a half before the incident.

         Her biological father had died five years prior to the incident, and she had chosen to live with her grandmother following his death, where her half-sister (Heather) had opted to live with their mother. When her behaviour became too erratic for the elderly grandmother to handle, she moved to Crow.

         Dolly was, according to teachers, a ‘glamorous, charismatic troublemaker’. She was very pretty and initially popular – but she made up rumours, she stole boyfriends and she picked physical fights over nothing. She was unpredictable and cruel, and her name was mud within a month of her arrival at her new school. Dolly struggled to stabilise in her new home and her significant mental health issues were allowed to fester.

         Through circumstance the girls found one another. They spent the better part of the year leading up to the murder becoming more and more invested in a bizarre fantasy world – a little religion, fed by each girl’s individual obsessions and furies. Joan Wilson became a target for them. For things she had done, and for things the girls imagined she would do.

         They were playing pretend. And then they were not.

      

   


   
      
         I came across the case in the ‘chumbox’ section of a particularly trashy true-crime news website, one which aggregated the most depraved, grotesque stories from all over the world into one place.

         Depraved and grotesque was exactly what I was looking for; my last two books had not sold well.

         For those of you unfamiliar with my work, I used to be a journalist; I reported on major British crimes for now-defunct tabloid Polaris.1 I was implicated in the News International phone-hacking scandal (despite not being employed by News International) and I was sacked. But I was quite well off and had enough connections that it did not particularly matter. Bigger names went down in that scandal; people are often surprised to hear I was involved at all. At the time my reputation was tarnished but this was not the end of the world – it had never been particularly stellar.

         So, I decided to write books instead. I wrote two very popular books: How Could She?, on the case of killer couple Raymond and Kathleen Skelton, and Into the Ether, on the strange disappearance of schoolgirl Molly Lambert – both of which I had covered for Polaris.

         My latest book, My Life in Crime, was published in 2013. The book was part memoir, part true crime. I wrote about the most famous cases I had covered and I wasted a lot of my best material in it. I could’ve gotten three books out of it, if I’d more liberally stretched some of the material. I also talked about myself far too much, apparently.

         It was called ‘self-indulgent’ and ‘un-insightful’ in the press – and I was criticised for reusing material from How Could She? and Into the Ether, which readers were encouraged to read instead. It did not sell well, but it did not flop as badly as my next book.

         The true crime boom began in 2013. And while Serial and Making a Murder were achieving cultural dominance, I was languishing bitterly in My Life in Crime’s relative failure. It felt unfair that I hadn’t immediately benefitted from this true-crime explosion – I’d been doing this for decades, hadn’t I?

         Then my first two books began to experience an uptick in sales after continually being referenced on popular pod-casts and appearing on lists like Twenty Books to Read if You Can’t Get Enough of Serial or Essential True Crime for Podcast Addicts. I had earned a second chance and was offered another book by my old publisher in early 2016.

         Because I had used my ‘best’ material in My Life in Crime, I had to find something new. I spent the next eighteen months writing a book about a serial rapist. A woman, a teacher, an abuser of boys. It was called In the Spider’s Web and it was published in late 2017. I thought it was rather good. And, unlike My Life in Crime, it reviewed well. But no one read it. The case did not catch the public’s attention. I went on a few podcasts, I had a couple of big press interviews, but I was mostly asked about my previous books. It did not launch me as the true-crime guy I had hoped it might. Offers were not rolling in. My publishers were not interested in another book from me.

         In 2018, I had an embarrassing argument with a popular podcaster on Twitter. I bemoaned how distasteful his podcast was, and he replied with a series of screenshots of old articles about the phone-hacking scandal by way of a counter-argument. It went viral and I was ‘dragged’ far and wide by self-righteous zoomers, my fellow ‘blue ticks’ and other people in the true-crime community. In a manner of speaking, I was cancelled. My literary agency dropped me like a hot bag of sick. I was no longer being invited to appear on podcasts, or at conventions. When my books were mentioned by journalists or podcasters, it was always with the caveat that I was ‘kind of an asshole’ or ‘pretty scummy’.

         After a year of doing absolutely nothing, you can imagine that I was bored and looking for a new project. I thought I would shoot my shot once again. True crime was still huge – and it wasn’t just books and podcasts anymore. Now it was television documentaries, dramatisations of documentaries. True crime was still huge – now beyond the realm of the niche podcast and the one-off Netflix documentary, the genre was ubiquitous and profitable. From Hollywood movies to HBO – A-listers were now clamouring to play Ted Bundy on screen, to executive produce the latest prestige docuseries. I spent my days combing through the trashiest websites the internet had to offer, hoping to find my next big hit.

         As a former tabloid journalist, I was no stranger to picking through the rubbish – but even for me, this was beginning to get a bit depressing.

         I had been reading about a case in Abilene, Texas: a man kidnapped a young girl and kept her in a dog cage. The man lived on a diet of children’s cereals and seemed to be planning to maim the girl and condition her into some sort of doll/ slave. Weird, but not weird enough, really. The police found her alive and unharmed, and the kidnapper had no history of this sort of behaviour.

         It felt typical of every ‘weird’ or interesting case I found. It wasn’t big enough. We don’t have big, messy crimes so much anymore, do we? Not like we used to. Forensics are too developed, and police all over the world seem slightly too wise to their own systemic issues under which serial killers once thrived. There are strange, one-off crimes, but they rarely have the complexities of those long, drawn-out serial cases. Nothing for you to really sink your teeth into – unless the internet was somehow involved. If I could find myself a catfish or a Facebook Svengali – my own Gypsy Rose Blanchard – I would be set.

         At the bottom of the article on the case from Abilene, there was the chumbox. ‘They called her the most beautiful girl in the world; see what she looks like NOW’; ‘10 Tips For Losing Fat on Your Belly and gaining it on your ASS’; ‘Boyfriend gets LAST LAUGH on cheating ex’ – each of these headlines was accompanied, respectively, by images of a heavily edited child model, a woman’s backside in tight short-shorts and a busty woman crying. Below the backside, next to the busty cheater:

         
​YOU WON’T BELIEVE WHAT THEY DID TO HER …

         Below the headline, a split image of a beautiful stock-image model with stark red hair, and a charred corpse, heavily edited to look smooth, uncanny, with strange white eyes, staring into the camera.

         Each article seemed tailored to appeal to our basest instincts, calling to the most embarrassing depths of our curiosity. I clicked, I read. I needed to know more.

         I googled the name, and I found a few podcasts – you’ve already read an extract from the first show that covered the case, I Peed on Your Grave, a trio of obnoxious American men who shouted over one another to make jokes about teen lesbians and do silly ‘British’ accents. They’d been handed information by a resident of Crow-on-Sea. IPOYG seemed to be the main source from which several copycat podcasts pulled their own episodes. I listened to a pair of white women with white wine who called it ‘the best contemporary story’ they’d covered in years. They paused in the right places and cooed ‘poor girl’, ‘poor thing’, ‘poor baby’.

         This was all surface-level stuff, of course. They were Americans. They didn’t seem terribly interested in the broader socio-economic context of the crime – they didn’t talk about the town it took place in (apart from to giggle about its strange name), nor did they dig too deeply into the personal histories of the victim or her killers. The idea that one could talk about this case and gloss over a figure as important as Angelica’s father (whom most Brits tapped into politics would have heard of) was absurd to me.

         There were a few photographs floating around, and YouTube videos (again, rehashing the IPOYG reporting), and a lot of Reddit threads with screen caps of the killer’s social media profiles. One of the best sources I found was a post on ‘DethJournal’, a clone of LiveJournal used by true-crime fans. On the ‘TCC [true-crime community] Wank’2 Report board a user had gathered a large archive of Dolly Hart and Violet Hubbard’s Tumblr posts prior to their blogs’ deletion – as well as posts and chat logs detailing the reactions of Dolly’s online acquaintances.

         Everywhere I looked people were asking for more info on the case. They wanted sources outside of dodgy local papers, the same handful of podcasts and few DethJournal posts. People were asking for a book.

         The story was begging to be told and I appeared to have gotten there first.

         I am being flippant. Though my interest was initially self-serving, Joni’s case did get to me. The podcasts about her bothered me. In 2014 my only daughter, Frances died. On a snowy January morning she washed up on the south bank of the Thames, apparently having taken her own life. She was twenty. When I first began researching the Joan Wilson case, I imagined how people might talk about Frances. I imagined men laughing about her, strangers making jokes around the circumstances that led to her death and doing her accent.

         So, in late 2019, I temporarily moved to Crow-on-Sea. I tried to integrate myself into the community. I wanted to do something worthy. I wanted to write about the town in which this crime had taken place as much as I wanted to write about the crime itself. I got friendly with the locals and moved into their library – enlisting the help of local historians and journalists. I was privileged enough to interview the friends and loved ones of the victim and the perpetrators, and I was even able to have an extensive correspondence with Violet Hubbard and Angelica Stirling-Stewart. I was unable to contact Dolly Hart, who is still incarcerated as of publication.

         Much of what you will read draws from that correspondence, as well as tens of thousands of blog posts and content from interviews. This book represents hundreds of hours of tireless research, in which I hope I have presented the heart of this story. This will not be an abridged version for easy consumption on your commute; there will be no silly accents and no interruptions from mattress adverts.

         
            1 Polaris (1947–2015) was one of Britain’s only left-leaning tabloid papers. It printed its last edition in May 2015.

            2 ‘Wank’ is a colloquial (now somewhat antiquated) term used to describe community infighting within fandoms, or as a catch-all term for bad behaviour. There were communities on LiveJournal and other similar websites which were dedicated to the cataloguing and discussion of ‘wank’ incidents.

         

      

   


   
      
         Joan Margaret Wilson was born on 19 December 1999. Like her death, her birth was overshadowed by a major historical event. Amanda Wilson told me how irritated she was that her daughter’s arrival into the world was swallowed by the turn of the millennium.

         ‘It was the millennium-bug stuff that really did my head in,’ she said. ‘When my friends kept talking to me about how they were going to go to these massive parties or club nights or whatever for New Year’s Eve – that was annoying. But the millennium-bug shit was just … stupid. Kept bringing it up while I was stressed and knackered. You know, asking daft stuff like: Is that baby monitor millennium-bug proof? Do you have a plan in place in case we lose power? Have you taken all your money out of the bank? That kind of shit.’ Amanda was twenty-five when she had Joan. She was ‘kind of a hippy’ then, and she still is. She wears harem pants and has very long hair. She smokes roll-up cigarettes and eats tofu. She has tattoos, a pierced belly button, and named her daughter after the folk singer Joni Mitchell. Amanda wanted everyone to call the baby Joni.

         Amanda’s divorce from Joni’s father, Freddy, had just been finalised as of my interview with her. Though this is the first interview you will read, Amanda was one of the last people I spoke to. I’d been living in Crow for a few months before she agreed to speak to me in early March of 2020. We were just beginning to understand how much of a threat the COVID-19 virus might be, and I was planning to wrap up my work in Crow and return home to London – just in case things got worse.

         Amanda and I chatted about the virus, at first. She was a little sceptical about it, not seeing how it could be much worse than a flu. At the time, I agreed with her.

         She was also sceptical about me. She said she hadn’t spoken to anyone in the press about her daughter’s death, even though she’d had offers (increasingly so, after the I Peed on Your Grave episode was released). She didn’t know what to make of it. Four years on, she was still in shock – she probably always would be.

         She led me to her conservatory, where she’d stacked some photo albums. There were mandalas on her wall which she drew herself, as well as watercolours of Hindu and Buddhist iconography and lots of animals and plants.

         She was thin as a rail. Blue veins crept around the long, delicate bones of her hands and the puffy bags under her eyes. In old photographs her hair is glossy and auburn. In the light of the conservatory, I could see it had become dry, and thin. Grey spilled down from the crown of her skull, as if someone had upended a bucket of silver paint over her head.

         Amanda told me she didn’t want to discuss finding out about Joni’s death, identifying the body or the funeral. She didn’t wish to go into detail about the breakdown of her marriage.

         She told me she didn’t remember much of 2016, beyond June. She spent a lot of it in bed, and Freddy spent a lot of time with his parents. Neither could cope with their own guilt, or the weight of the other’s grief. After the funeral, they more or less began living separate lives.

         Amanda’s parents were both dead and she was an only child. Her friends took care of her. They would bring her meals and tidy her house while Amanda lay in bed or took showers lasting several hours.

         ‘I didn’t like leaving my bedroom because I could see her everywhere,’ said Amanda. ‘Just out of the corner of my eye. Peeking round corners or going back into her room. Just the back of her. And I would get a whiff of her now and again; I’d be able to smell her or … I would smell the hospital. And then I’d get in the shower. When I could smell the hospital, I’d shower and try to drown out the smell with this shower gel she used to use. She never used to go into my bedroom, so I … If I couldn’t cope with it, I’d stay there. But sometimes I would … wander around the house, hoping to see her. Just to feel normal for a second.’

         I told Amanda I’d felt the same way after my own daughter’s death. The circumstances were different, and my daughter hadn’t lived with me for a few years – but that I could swear I had seen the end of Frances’s ponytail disappearing around a corner, or that I could smell the perfume she wore.

         A few months after her death, I was suddenly so worried Frances’s perfume would get discontinued that I went to a shop and bought twenty bottles of the stuff. I started spraying it around my flat onto the soft furnishings – but I did it so much I couldn’t really smell the perfume anymore. When I realised, I had a complete meltdown and tried to donate all my furniture to the British Heart Foundation in the hope I could replace it all and get the smell back.

         Amanda said she’d done something similar with Joni’s shower gel – gotten in a bulk order of it one day.

         ‘Whenever I heard a floorboard creaking downstairs, the kettle boiling or the TV turning on – logically I’d know it was just … Julie or one of my other friends, but … I’d feel like it was her. And that’s mostly what I remember. This constant feeling of like … knowing she wasn’t there but feeling like she was. Logically knowing that she couldn’t be there, then feeling like I shouldn’t be here either. If she wasn’t here, I should be where she was. And that I just wanted her. But I couldn’t have her. And when all of this hit me, it made me feel like I’d lost a lung. I couldn’t breathe without her.’

         She spent that first Christmas with Freddy’s family. The day was miserable – bitter, spiteful, alcohol-fuelled arguments which led to their official break-up in early January.

         After Christmas, Amanda’s friends visited less. She lost a great deal of weight and stopped sleeping.

         She began watching a lot of documentaries about murdered children, because they often spoke to the mothers. That was who she was watching for, the mothers. They were dressed and out of the house and speaking about their child’s death. Amanda said she started studying them – as if she was hoping to discover a secret. If she watched the other mothers, she might learn how to put her clothes on again. She might learn how to leave the house. She might discover how to continue to function after such a massive loss.

         After she ran out of documentaries, she read their blogs and columns and memoirs. She started to feel bitter and jealous of the mothers of victims of school shootings and police violence because they had something to organise around. She couldn’t see a cause to attach to Joni’s murder; she could not find a purpose in it the way these women had.

         ‘And then I found this woman – Marcia. She’s American. And her daughter was fourteen, and she was murdered by two girls she went to school with. And her blog was all about how she’d like … forgiven her daughter’s murderers and she was appealing for lighter sentences for them and had even like … One of the killers was training guide dogs in prison, and Marcia donated a puppy to this girl’s training programme. It boiled my piss. I’ve never been so infuriated in my life. I wrote her this mental email, this absolutely insane like five-page email about everything that’d happened to me and how I thought she was sick in the head and insane and how I would never ever forgive the monsters who took away my daughter.’

         I asked how Marcia replied.

         ‘Totally magnanimous. I hear your pain. I feel your pain, was what she said. And she … I don’t want to get into it but she did end up really helping me,’ Amanda said. ‘We’re still friends. I probably wouldn’t be talking to you without Marcia, but she said that helping the journalist that did the book about her daughter was really cathartic.’

         Plus: Joni’s story was already out there. After a few years of mercifully being ignored by everyone but the local press, the true-crime industrial complex had found Amanda. And as much as she did not want people to hear about her daughter’s murder between adverts for mattresses and meal-delivery kits, it had already begun. And people wanted to speak to her. There’d be no escaping them now, the true-crime people. People like me, really.

         ‘The I Pissed on Your Face or whatever blokes emailed me, you know. They got some shit for the episode, for being disrespectful. And they emailed me to ask if I’d like … if I wanted to come on or something so they could apologise. How fucking mad is that? How fucking weird is that?’

         Other journalists had knocked on her door offering interviews and book deals and handfuls of cash. I had the benefit of being in Crow, of having been vouched for by friends (despite my reputation) and – most of all – I also had a daughter dead under terrible circumstances. Very different – but still terrible.

         Even short lives are complex and rich. Even dead children are full of contradictions and flaws and mysteries that will never be fully understood or solved. Even a writer as well versed in this genre as I could never create a perfect photograph of my subject. I could create a beautiful, accurate sketch of Joni, but a sketch from a skilled artist is still a sketch.

         
             

         

         Amanda’s parents, Jan and John, had owned an amusement arcade on the North Beach. It was called Vegas by the Sea. Amanda showed me photographs of a row of spray-paint showgirls decorating the wall, coin pushers made to look like roulette tables, a photo of her at eight or nine, toothless and grinning, in front of neon lights shaped like giant playing cards. Amanda still finds the sound of arcade machines comforting; she told me when she couldn’t sleep, she would often play a ten-hour YouTube video of ambient arcade noises.

         Jan and John Black were Crow outsiders. They moved in the late sixties and opened their arcade in 1971 without ‘getting in’ with the inner circle of business owners and local celebrities who had thoroughly taken over the town. Amanda was born four years after Vegas was.

         That inner circle of businessmen’s influence grew over the twenty-five years that Vegas was open. They got their hooks into local government and began making it gradually more and more difficult for anyone who wasn’t part of their old boys’ club to open or run a business. While they began to block the opening of new business owned by anyone besides themselves, prices at the businesses around Vegas by the Sea dropped, and Jan and John were repeatedly and arbitrarily fined (for the placement of their bins, for the number of fire extinguishers on their premises, for failing to produce ancient legal documents), and harassed with constant and decreasing offers of purchase from local businessman Gerald Dowd.3

         In 1996 Jan and John ‘gave up’ and sold the arcade to Dowd. They gave Amanda a portion of the money from the sale of Vegas, and Amanda went on holiday with it. She was twenty-one. She had worked at Vegas since she was thirteen and was celebrating her career change with a holiday. She didn’t have a new job yet, but knew she’d be able to get one at a hotel or a chippy without much difficulty upon her return. She was going to work part-time and go back to college to do an arts education course.

         She went to Corfu because the travel agent had a deal on. Club 18-30. Amanda asks me if I remember travel agents, a little incredulous that they ever existed. She booked it with her best friend, Julie.

         She had wanted to go to Ayia Napa, which was more expensive. She’d seen it in the brochures – blue skies, white sand. But Julie told her a mutual friend of theirs had been mugged when she went to Ayia Napa. She refused, point-blank, to go; especially when Corfu was cheaper, and just as beautiful. So they went to Corfu. Amanda had never been on a summer holiday. She couldn’t leave Vegas during tourist season. Her parents would take her out of school, slyly, to the Costa del Sol or Canary Islands at funny times of year. Her childhood holidays were always in February and November.

         Amanda, for the first time, bought tiny bikinis and short-shorts. Then she hid them, because she was mortified at the thought of her conservative father finding them. She and Julie waxed each other’s legs the evening before their flight.

         Amanda saw Freddy the moment she arrived at the hotel. She spotted him at the hotel bar while she and Julie dragged their suitcases through reception. He was her age, and he was tall and blond and tanned. She didn’t usually go for blond men – she didn’t like their pale eyebrows and lashes. Amanda thought he looked sort of posh, but he wasn’t at all. He came over to them and offered to carry their cases. He spoke with a thick, familiar accent. ‘Hull?’ she’d asked him. He nodded, then asked her if she was from Scarborough. She told him, ‘Close enough.’ They gave each other their names. She said no to the suitcases, but said she’d catch him later. He smiled at her. He wasn’t pushy. He said okay, and he let her go – didn’t take it as an insult, or an affront to his masculinity.

         Easy-going – Amanda liked the easy-going, nice boys her friends occasionally called ‘wet’. She had no desire for the jealous, wall-punching thugs that loitered in her arcade all summer, competing with the Test Your Strength cabinets, rattling claw machines, shouting at girls in the street. Perhaps an 18–30 holiday wasn’t the best place for her, with that in mind. But they found each other. Mand and Freddy, day one.

         He waved at her in the bar later but didn’t crowd her. Julie and Amanda sipped sweet drinks with paper umbrellas and plastic pineapple cocktail stirrers. They could hear the ocean from the bar. Amanda joked that they should’ve gone away from the seaside; they should’ve gone skiing.

         Freddy and Mand bumped into each other on the beach that evening. Julie had gone off with a boy; Mand was just happy sipping her cheap Greek beer and looking up at the moon, with warm sand beneath her toes, in her hair. Freddy plopped down beside her (asking for permission first – ‘Hullo! Mind if I sit here?’) and recounted how he’d lost each of the four friends he’d come on holiday with this evening. Mand asked if this was a lads’ holiday, and Freddy told her he was with two girl friends and two lad friends. This made her like him more. Here was a boy who was fine when you said no to him, and had friends who were girls? He was a novelty. She’d lost her friend as well – this was the first thing they had in common.

         They chatted for an hour about where they’d grown up, what they did for a living. A jealous squeal of delight came from Freddy when she told him about her parents’ arcade – Freddy loved arcades. Half his childhood was spent on the Scarborough seafront, with ice-cream-sticky hands that smelt of coppers from two-pence machines, and a hoard of crappy claw-machine toys stuffed into his nana’s handbag. He’d broken his front tooth on a stick of Scarborough rock, and never had the little chip fixed – you could see his tongue in the small gap when he smiled.

         Years after Mand and Freddy met, their daughter would chip her own front tooth on a stick of rock. The chip was almost exactly the same size and shape as Freddy’s. Amanda said all of her memories of Freddy are tied up in Joni, even the ones from before Joni existed. She found that even her own foggy childhood inevitably tangled with her daughter’s. Was it Amanda who pulled three of her own baby teeth in one go? Or Joni? Did they both do that at around the same age? The two of them were so similar. The three of them were. Freddy, Mand and Joni. Peas in a pod.

         Mand and Julie were absorbed into Freddy’s holiday friendship group. Freddy’s friends teased him – after just two days, Freddy and Mand were already a pair of gooey-eyed newlyweds; they fussed over each other like little birds. They had everything in common. They ordered pina coladas in sync. They both had dated taste in films and music; Freddy bitterly complained about the superiority of Hendrix and Pink Floyd to the Britpop set, and Mand promised to play him New Skin for the Old Ceremony when they got back to Yorkshire and he drove up to visit her. They both liked American grunge. They both loved Midnight Cowboy, The Deer Hunter, Taxi Driver.

         ‘It was scary,’ Amanda said. ‘I almost thought he was winding me up. Like he was just agreeing with me to get my knickers off, and I’d never hear from him again after we got home.’

         They exchanged phone numbers and addresses and promised each other they’d stay in touch. Amanda tells me she nearly cried in the taxi to the airport; half the happiest she’d been, half terrified this wouldn’t go anywhere. Julie was monumentally hungover and had to stop the cab to vomit out of the door.

         They arrived home on a Thursday night, and Freddy rang her at 11 a.m. on Friday morning. Amanda knew he was serious. Her mum answered the phone and gave her a big thumbs up as she passed the receiver over. Freddy drove up the following Saturday.

         This was July of 1996. They went to Cyprus together in August of 1997, and Freddy proposed on a beach in Ayia Napa. Amanda showed me her ring, which she still wore – it’s vintage, a milky pearl set in a ring of tiny diamonds. She loved it. She loved him. He moved up to Crow.

         Mand finished college and started working freelance as an arts educator. She’d go into schools and do art days (printing, tie-dye, painting) with Key Stage 1 children, and children with special educational needs. Freddy worked offshore on the rigs, in the North Sea; two weeks on, two weeks off, which suited them both well. They liked the money; they liked the space, the intensity of two weeks when he was there, the privacy of his two weeks away.

         They were married in September of ’98. Freddy and Mand’s mothers, Pat and Jan, argued at the wedding. Freddy’s parents were the kind of working-class people who made it their business to look down on people who were also working class but more common than they were. And nothing screamed common like Mand’s parents: her mother’s brassy blonde hair and heavy jewellery, her father’s gold tooth and red face. Mand’s belly ring made Pat’s lip curl.

         That was what started the argument. Pat made a comment: it was a shame you could see Amanda’s belly ring through her wedding dress; two bottles of champagne deep, Jan told Pat to bugger off. Then to fuck off. Then called her a fat, stuck-up cow. It almost ruined the day. Pat cried, melodramatically, and the mothers had to be separated. Mand was relieved they’d done the photos already.

         They went to Berlin for their honeymoon, deciding to do something a bit cool and a bit different, because they were too cool and different for beach holidays. Amanda showed me a photo of her flashing a peace sign in front of a chunk of the Berlin Wall. Her hair was bleach-blonde, tied into space buns, and she was wearing a small plastic bindi in the centre of her forehead. She told me she was obsessed with Gwen Stefani. In the next photo of Freddy, his hair had grown into curtains that skimmed his jaw; he wore a ratty Nirvana shirt.

         ‘I was quite cool for about ten minutes there,’ Amanda said, smiling. ‘Definitely the coolest girl in Crow, but that’s saying fuck all. Then I got pregnant. I don’t mean that to sound bitter but I just don’t think you can be a cool mum. You instantly lose all your street-cred when you get pregnant. I got lippy with my nana once when I was a teenager. Refused to go to my uncle’s birthday at the working men’s club, told her I wouldn’t be caught dead there. She looked at me, and just said something like … “You can act like you’re royalty now, Mandy, but one day you’re going to have shit under your fingernails, and it won’t be your own.” The first time I changed Joni’s nappy I thought about her saying that. I actually thought about that every time I changed her nappy.’

         Amanda looked at her thin hands and examined her nails, which were now bitten down to the bed. I asked her if she liked being a mother.

         ‘I did. I really didn’t mind the shit under my fingernails. I don’t think I come off as very maternal, but I am, in a lot of ways. I love little kids and I love looking after people. It’s why I do my job – I just like being around children and I loved having my own.’

         We paused to look at baby photos. Joni’s tiny hands curled around Amanda’s long, skinny fingers. Scratch mittens, bubble baths, dummies, soft blankets. Joni sleeping on Freddy’s chest. In one photograph, Joni at around six months is in a cot surrounded by fifteen small teddies. Scrawled under the photo in Amanda’s hand: ‘The elders have assembled to decide your punishment.’

         The Post-on-Sea called Amanda ‘icy’:

         
            Amanda Wilson (43) was icy with press, refusing to give comments or interviews. Mrs Wilson did not shed a single tear, in contrast to Fredrick Wilson (44), the girl’s father, who was inconsolable throughout the proceedings.

         

         I asked her about that – the icy comment. She said she never cries in front of anyone, and that everyone thinks it’s weird. But she had been like this since she was a child. She simply found crying in front of others humiliating; she had a real blockage around it. But she had cried a lot at home. She cried in front of her friends, just not at court. And after Christmas of 2016, particularly during the trial, she felt numb.

         ‘After talking to Marcia a lot, she said to me that I might not be able to get meaning out of Joni’s death. That she certainly hadn’t gotten any meaning out of her daughter’s death. But that like … looking for an outlet and working toward just … being more normal again – I was allowed to do that. I didn’t have to spend the rest of my life locked in my bedroom, and I wouldn’t be forgetting about Joni or being disrespectful because my life wasn’t 100% focussed on missing her and thinking about her. And you know … people didn’t like that. They didn’t like it at all.’

         As much as friends had begun to pull away from Amanda as she was mired in her grief, they weren’t always receptive to her steady attempts to restart her life.

         ‘I had a friend who fell out with me when I went back to work. She said I was stupid to go back now, and I said I needed a distraction and I could just tell she thought that was like … off. Like there was something wrong about wanting to be distracted. And I fell out with Julie last year because I told her I wanted to foster. I was thinking to foster a disabled kid, because I’ve got plenty of experience with SEN kids, and it’s hardest to place them. I still am, actually. But Julie thought I was replacing Joni. That I was just happy to replace her. But if I can’t … if I can’t do something … anything. Something positive. I don’t know. I might as well just fucking top myself. Sometimes I think that’s what people want from me.

         ‘I’ve spoken to Marcia about this a lot because she’s … had similar stuff. Especially with all the steps she’s made toward forgiving her daughter’s attackers. People have written to her and told her to kill herself. And I’m not as public as Marcia – can’t say I’m exactly ready to forgive anyone either, but … I really think people want me to kill myself, or something.

         ‘I know I sound mental, but I think that’s what people want to see. It’s so horrible, what happened to her is so horrible, I reckon they think it’s the only appropriate reaction. Nobody understands how anything so awful could happen, so nobody knows how to act, or how I should act, or how I could possibly be coping. They all have their little fucking ideas about what I’m supposed to do, or who I’m supposed to be. So I can’t do anything right for anyone. They don’t understand how I could go on, and thinking about it makes them sad, so they just want me to go away. To move out of the house, or to just die, so they don’t have to think about me, or what happened to Joni anymore. Do I sound mental? I sound mental, don’t I? I’ve sounded mental since it happened.’

         
            *

         

         Going forward, an asterisk will indicate any names that have been changed to preserve the anonymity of those who are tangential to the case. 

         
             

         

         Joni spoke early but walked late. Mand took her to the GP, who examined Joni and said she was fine. He said that some babies were just a bit lazy. Mand and Freddy should try leaving her to sort herself out, to encourage her to get her own toys, her own snacks. Amanda showed me a home video, of a chubby not-quite-two-year-old with red hair. She was in a onesie, lying face down on a rug.

         ‘No, no, no,’ she said. 

         ‘Go and get teddy, Joni, go get it!’ 

         ‘She’s not a Labrador, Freddy.’ 

         ‘No, no, no. Mummy Daddy for me.’ 

         ‘Why not?’ 

         ‘Can’t, Mummy, can’t. Need Daddy.’ 

         ‘Joni, go get it.’ 

         The toddler rolled onto her back, a look of utter contempt on her face. She sighed heavily. Still lying on her back with her knees up, and her feet flat on the floor, she pushed herself across the carpet, like a worm. Freddy and Mand laughed.

         ‘At least crawl! Oh my God, Jojo, that looks like so much more effort.’ 

         ‘No, no, no.’ 

         ‘No’ was her first word. Joni became infamous among her extended family for bluntly refusing cuddles and kisses; for her honest appraisal of meals, and dresses, and other people’s children. Did you like your tea at Nana’s? No. Did you like your Uncle Gavin’s present? No. Do you want to meet the new baby? No. 

         Mand encouraged it. She hated sickly sweet little girls; she hated watching mothers henpeck their daughters into submission, while their horrid little boys ran around pulling hair and picking noses. She craved balance. She wanted to live in a world where no one pulled hair unpunished, but every child was free to pick their nose at least a little bit.

         I was shown a picture of Joni, small and round, on her first day of school. She was grinning; her milk teeth like little white needles. It took her a while to make friends. When the other children asked her to play with them, she said no, because she didn’t want to do what they were doing. The other children were wounded by rejection in ways Joni was not. She told them to play other games with her; some said no back, and some bent to her will. The words ‘persistent’, ‘bossy’ and ‘blunt’ would all appear in her school reports. ‘Pig-headed’ popped up once, in Year 3, and Mand complained to the head teacher.

         She didn’t really make any close friends until Violet Hubbard joined the school in Year 2. They had a lot in common – they both liked to read and they both liked video games. Pokémon was a particular shared favourite. They were fast friends.

         Joni got picked on, but Amanda didn’t recall it hugely bothering her until she got a bit older. When the other little girls started to grow up, and Joni didn’t, her problems began. The small handful of meeker children that Joni had gathered as friends (including Violet) were told by more mature girls that Joni was bossy and they didn’t have to do what she said. They could do anything they wanted.

         ‘Aleesha Dowd, Kayleigh Brian,* Angelica Stirling-Stewart,’ Amanda told me. ‘They always picked on her.’

         Aleesha, Kayleigh and Angelica had begun to prepare for secondary school in earnest. From Year 6 onward, they straightened their hair, they rolled up their skirts, they stole their older sisters’ body sprays, and laughed at the girls who were yet to put aside their My Little Pony dolls and their Pokémon games. Aleesha, Kayleigh and Angelica were shedding their childhoods like old skin, where Joni had begun to cocoon herself in childish things at the first sign of puberty.

         ‘I had the talk with her, but I think it really scared her. Asking her if she wanted a bra, even just a sports bra, freaked her out; she really regressed after that. Got worse when she started her period, I think, ’cause she started it so early. She was quite a bit bigger than most of the other girls by the end of primary school. She was taller and heavier, than the other girls; you had these tiny little things like Angelica and Kayleigh who … even with the straightened hair and the lip gloss, you could easily think they were seven or eight years old. And they were ripping into Joni because she was just … she didn’t want to grow up as quickly as they did.’

         There was only so much advice Amanda could give, only so much she could do to help. She’d always been thin, a bit of a late bloomer. Joni’s hair and facial features had come from Amanda’s side of the family, but her build was all Freddy’s. She was a roly-poly baby who grew into a stocky, broad-shouldered girl. She was never self-conscious of her size until the other girls made sure she was.

         In early 2010, when Joni was in Year 6, there was an incident involving Joni’s Nintendo DS. She brought it to school to play at lunchtimes – to trade Pokémon with Violet. Violet was off sick, so Joni was playing Pokémon Platinum by herself. Aleesha began bothering her – she asked Joni why she didn’t get some exercise. She told Joni she should go for a run around the playground, that she should try and lose some weight. She snatched the Nintendo DS out of Joni’s hands and (allegedly) said, ‘If you got off your bum you wouldn’t be so fat.’

         Aware that smashing the DS itself was a step too far, Aleesha coolly erased Joni’s save. Joni, upon realising what Aleesha had done, had a complete meltdown, and ripped a chunk of poker-straight blonde hair from Aleesha’s scalp.

         This made things far, far worse for Joni. The bullying (which had been mild teasing, up to this point) really started to get to her. Amanda had to call the school on a few occasions, but nothing was done. Angelica Stirling-Stewart and Aleesha Dowd’s fathers both had deep ties to local business and government – they knew most of the school governors. Amanda was brushed off every time.

         ‘I don’t know why I fucking bothered,’ Amanda rolled her eyes. ‘Joni had apparently started it. What exactly she’d started they never properly explained to me, because I was complaining about general bullying, not a specific incident. Joni told me that Aleesha was a complete toerag and had locked Violet in a toilet on her first day. Apparently, all the teachers knew about it, and she wasn’t even allowed to go to the toilet unsupervised because she’d locked so many kids in cubicles.

         ‘Joni’s actual teacher was sympathetic, but nothing ever got past the head teacher, because everyone with any power was friends with Gerald Dowd or Simon Stirling-Stewart or one of those fucking … inner-circle wankers who basically run the place.’ Amanda leant forward, glowering. ‘You know they actually pinned her down and straightened her hair one day? Joni was going to tell on them for bringing straighteners to school, or something. And Aleesha pinned her down to the floor while Angelica straightened her hair. When I rang, apparently Aleesha got put in detention, but Angelica didn’t. They asked me if she’d gotten burned and – because Joni hadn’t – it was like,’ Amanda shrugged, ‘no big deal, apparently. Fuck off.’

         Amanda then told me that the ‘lack of consequences’ for certain people in Crow-on-Sea was only going to go one way.

         Joni retreated further into her childish things. This made the grown-up girls harsher and harsher and harsher. Joni was terrified of going to secondary school – a few of her friends were going to their nearest private school, Amplefield College, rather than Crow-on-Sea Community High School. She wanted to go to Amplefield instead.

         ‘She really went on about it, you know? She didn’t seem to quite understand that we just couldn’t afford private school. You know, when you’re little you just don’t realise how much money it costs. I think the fees for Amplefield College are something ridiculous like £15,000 a year. That’d be pretty much all of my salary. We sat down and did the maths, and Freddy’s salary is pretty decent on the rigs, and Freddy reckoned we could actually afford it if we just did fuck all else – like no holidays, if we just had one car, if we were careful with clothes and appliances. I’d wanted a new suite as well.

         ‘If we cut all that stuff out, we could probably do it. Oh, and Freddy said it’d be easier if I got a “proper job”. I obviously thought I already did have a proper job, so we had a huge argument about it. I said her quality of life would be worse overall. If she was getting bullied at a state primary, on what planet was she not getting bullied if she was going to be the poorest kid at the fucking private school. And Violet was going to CCHS, so she wasn’t going to be totally by herself. And I assumed Angelica and Aleesha would probably be going to Amplefield, anyway. So we agreed not to send her. Obviously I’ve never lived that down.’

         So off to CCHS Joni would go, after rather a large final hiccup at primary school. The end-of-year trip for Year 6s had been a day at the local waterpark, Poseidon’s Kingdom, where (following a series of circumstances I’ll explore later) Aleesha Dowd drowned in a freak accident.

         ‘As far as I remember, Aleesha got stuck in one of the slides face-down and drowned,’ Amanda sighs. ‘Joni didn’t see her drown, but she did see the body come out of the slide. Violet tried to go down the same slide, not knowing Aleesha was stuck in there, and knocked the body out, so … it was worse for Violet but Joni saw the splash and … the body floating in the pool.’

         Joni had nightmares that summer. She wouldn’t swim. She was terrified of water. Violet’s mother was having her take swimming lessons to help her get over the incident – Joni was invited but refused to go. Amanda wasn’t going to make her. In fact, virtually the only time Violet and Joni spent apart during the summer between primary and secondary school was when Violet was at her swimming lessons.

         Violet and Joni became even closer than they had been in primary – Violet was always around. They were always playing games together and watching YouTube videos. I asked Amanda if she’d had any concerns about their insular friendship.

         ‘Um … no, not really. I mean, I think it’s quite normal to just have one best friend when you’re that age. I expected them to get into a group together when they were a bit older; I thought they’d find the other sort of … alternative, gothy, kind of different kids when they were fourteen or fifteen. I think that’s the age I remember getting into more of a big friendship group rather than just having one or two girl friends.’

         So Mand couldn’t believe it when Joni started hanging around with a group of hyper-feminine, athletic and very mainstream girls in Year 9. She was even more surprised when she discovered that Joni’s former bullies, Kayleigh and Angelica, were part of this wider friendship group. Joni also stopped speaking to Violet in school. Joni didn’t mention this change in any detail to Amanda. She told Amanda she’d made a new friend: a pretty girl called Lauren* who Joni sat next to in English. Joni went over to Lauren’s one weekend, and that was that.

         ‘She came back with her hair done properly. My hair’s not as curly as hers, so I was always a bit shit with it; it was always a bit dry and frizzy. Lauren – who was actually very nice, she was lovely – Lauren has properly curly hair, and she like … sorted it out for her. Joni came back after this sleepover with her new friend with her hair all done, and she was wearing makeup. She’d been shopping, and she’d bought a crop top. I was … well, I wasn’t mortified, I’ve never … I don’t know, I don’t have a problem with makeup and belly tops, but I was just a bit shocked. I felt like I went from having a little girl to a seventeen-year-old in the space of about two weeks. I think maybe … maybe she was getting teased more than she let on and it just got a bit much for her, or she felt like she wanted to do more normal girl stuff. Maybe she felt left out. I really don’t know.’

         Amanda tried talking to Joni about it. She tried asking why Violet hadn’t been over in a while, or why she’d suddenly started wearing makeup. But Joni was evasive – positively breezy.

         ‘Well, with Violet she just shrugged it off. “We’re both allowed to have more than one friend” – you know when teenagers speak to you like you’re thick for even asking? She was the same with the makeup. I’d say, “About three months ago, you hated makeup,” and she’d just make this face, like three months ago was a different lifetime. And I didn’t press it because … well, when you’re a kid a few months is a huge chunk of time.’

         The first time Amanda’s house was invaded en masse by a group of glossy-haired, body-spray-drenched girly-girls – including Kayleigh and Angelica, of all people – Amanda was just bewildered.

         ‘I thought they’d bonded over the trauma of Aleesha Dowd drowning, or something. I don’t know. I just … didn’t understand it. I tried ringing Violet’s mum to see if they’d fallen out but … Violet’s mum didn’t even know they weren’t hanging round with each other anymore.’

         Amanda was disappointed. She particularly didn’t want to see Joni hanging around with Angelica Stirling-Stewart – aside from the historical bullying, Amanda intensely disliked Angelica’s father.

         ‘He used to complain about Robin House – the special primary school, the one I work in quite a lot – all the time. It’s not actually in Crow – closer to Whitby – and you’ve got to drive through Moorcock Hill, where he lives, to get to it. So he used to do all these horrible bits on local radio about how the parents’ slow driving would make the traffic really bad. And say stuff like, “Just ’cause your kid’s slow doesn’t mean you have to be.” He’s a horrible man. Even before the UKIP shit he was just … vile.’

         Joni assured her mother that she didn’t really like Angelica – that no one really did. Angelica was ‘the friend we all hate’. But that didn’t stop Joni from going to the Stirling-Stewart house for birthday parties or sleepovers.

         ‘I just … Honestly most of those girls were fine. They were perfectly nice, they really were. Especially Lauren – I genuinely liked her. I was even prepared to give Angelica a chance. But I didn’t want Joni getting embedded into Crow. This town is not … Like, it’s a weird fucking place. It’s basically run by this cabal of old gammon Tories – which I know isn’t exactly unusual – but it’s like they all think they’re in Game of Thrones. They’re all wrapped up in dodgy dealings and local crime and … people get sucked into it. I didn’t want her to get sucked in. I wanted her to leave. I used to defend Crow, but I think it’s a shit place to live. I only stayed for my parents. I’m only staying now because I’ve got nowhere else to go. I hate it here. I didn’t want her to get … I didn’t want her to identify with living here, and like … the idea of her getting in with Angelica just really bothered me. It felt like a way in to Crow for her. I didn’t want that.’

         
            3 Dowd was the owner of the amusement arcades Lucky Lucy’s and Bowl ’N’ Beer as well as the only cinema in town: The Red Carpet. He was co-owner of gentlemen’s club Diamond’s, along with infamous radio DJ and television host Vance Diamond.
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